Pediatric Percentiles for Transient Elastography Measurements - Effects of Age, Sex, Weight Status and Pubertal Stage

Dissertation zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Dr. med.

an der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Leipzig

eingereicht von:	Lina Brunnert, geboren am 18.09.1991 in Göttingen
angefertigt an:	der Universität Leipzig, Medizinische Fakultät, Klinik und Poliklinik für Kinder und Jugendliche in Zusammenarbeit mit dem Leipziger Forschungszentrum für Zivilisationserkrankungen (LIFE)
Betreuung:	Prof. Dr. med. Wieland Kiess Dr. rer. nat. Antje Garten Dr. rer. med. Mandy Vogel

Beschluss über die Verleihung des Doktorgrads vom: 19.09.2023

Contents

Index of abbreviations
Introduction
Relevance of the topic
Transient Elastography - current state of research
Reliability and Applicability of Transient Elastography4
Transient Elastography results in pediatric context
Influencing factors7
Weight status7
Pubertal status
LIFE Child Study
Study design
Setting9
Participants9
Data Acquisition9
Hypothesis10
Publication12
Summary
References
Appendix
Description of the own contribution
Erklärung über die eigenständige Abfassung der Arbeit27
Scientific Publication
Acknowledgements

Index of abbreviations

BMI	Body Mass Index
CAP	Controlled Attenuation Parameter
СТ	Computed Tomography
LSM	Liver Stiffness Measurement
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
NAFLD	Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease
OACCU	Overall Accuracy
OCCC	Overall Concordance Correlation Coefficient
OPREC	Overall Precision
SDS	Standard Deviation Score
TE	Transient Elastography
TS	Tanner Stage

Introduction

Relevance of the topic

Childhood obesity is a growing health issue worldwide and has reached pandemic dimensions (1). As a consequence, diseases that are related to obesity show a rising prevalence as well. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is one of them, having become the most common liver disease in children and adolescents. A recent meta-analysis showed a mean prevalence of NAFLD of 7.6% in children with normal weight worldwide. The prevalence of NAFLD in children with obesity was reported distinctly higher, reaching a percentage of 34.2 (2).

NAFLD in children has a complex pathogenesis composed of prenatal factors, such as maternal obesity during pregnancy and gestational diabetes, as well as postnatal factors such as childhood obesity, hyperinsulinemia and insulin resistance, to name only some of them (3). Also a genetic component is part of the pathogenesis (4). Children with NAFLD are often asymptomatic (5). When they show symptoms, these are mostly unspecific like, e. g., irritability, fatigue, headache, trouble concentrating and muscle aches or cramps (6). NAFLD is, furthermore, associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes and increased mortality at adult age (7). Moreover, it can lead to liver fibrosis and cirrhosis and increases the risk of developing hepatocellular carcinoma (3,8). Thus, it is apparent that NAFLD poses a significant risk - if not threat - to the health of a considerable proportion of the global population, besides leading to several secondary problems and large follow-up costs for individuals as well as societies as a whole.

However, detected at early stages, when there is no irreversible damage to the liver, NAFLD is treatable. Currently, the treatment of NAFLD consists of lifestyle modification to improve diet and increase physical activity (9). In addition, four different drugs (Anti-LPS antibody IMM-124e (Trial Number NCT03042767), Metreleptin (Trial Number NCT02654977), Cysteamine bitartrate (Trial Number NCT01529268) and Losartan (Trial Number NCT03467217)) are currently undergoing, respectively underwent, phase 2 studies (7). With regards to adults, far more drugs are being tested (10). This development makes it presumable that, alongside lifestyle intervention, it will be possible to treat NAFLD in pediatric patients pharmacologically in the near future.

Therefore, to detect NAFLD in pediatric patients reliably and at an early stage, when there is still time for therapeutic intervention, seems imperative.

Until today, the histopathological examination of a liver biopsy is the gold standard to diagnose NAFLD. Liver biopsy is an invasive procedure with concomitant risks like infection, bleeding or mispuncture. Moreover, there is the risk of misdiagnosing due to sampling bias (11) and children often need a general anesthesia for the procedure, which, again, entails risks for the children. Taken together, liver biopsy in children is, for good reasons, performed reluctantly, and especially not suitable for screening purposes. Hence, non-invasive, yet still reliable tools to diagnose NAFLD are urgently needed.

In order to identify these above-mentioned non-invasive tools, several studies have examined and evaluated various diagnosing approaches, most of them with rather disappointing results: For instance, a less invasive method is the examination of blood samples. The most commonly used serum marker for screening purposes is the liver enzyme alanine aminotransferase (ALT). Yet, research has shown that there are neither reliable cutoffs, nor has this method proven to be very sensitive and specific in diagnosing NAFLD (7). Kwon et al. investigated several, more specific biomarkers (P1NP, IL-6 or M2BPGi) and came to the conclusion that, combined with basic laboratory parameters, these could be used for screening purposes as well as for followups (12). However, the population they investigated consisted of only 60 participants, implying an obvious lack of generalizability. It is, thus, necessary to validate this outcome in a larger cohort. In another study, Maffeis et al. investigated on scores to detect NAFLD based on anthropometric data combined with laboratory parameters (e.g. adiponectin and the liver enzyme ALT), but they do also state that their results need validation due to the small cohort they investigated (13). Koot et al. investigated the diagnostic accuracy of existing scores (NAFLD liver fat score (NAFLD score), Fatty Liver Index (FLI), Hepatic Steatosis Index (HSI), paediatric formula (ped-NAFLD score)) in a cohort of 119 obese children and came to the conclusion that the accuracy of these scores is insufficient (14).

Further on, also completely non-invasive tools have been examined: The two imaging tools MRI and CT have proven to be reliable in detecting NAFLD (7,15), but both bear their own disadvantages. CT must not be used regularly in pediatric population due to its radiation. MRI on the other hand, which works without radiation, is expensive and not widely available, making it unsuitable for regular use or for screening purposes. Regular ultrasound also works without radiation and is an inexpensive and widely available tool, yet it is strongly observer

dependent (16) and various studies have shown that regular ultrasound is neither sensitive nor specific in diagnosing NAFLD (15), respectively steatosis (17) and fibrosis (18). However, there is a special device combining ultrasound with computational technique: Transient Elastography (TE). TE has gained a lot of academic interest over the last years, since it has proven to be a reliable method to detect NAFLD (see below). Furthermore, it is painless, rapid, cost-efficient, non-ionizing and observer independent.

Transient Elastography - current state of research

Reliability and Applicability of Transient Elastography

Transient Elastography (TE) is an ultrasound-based examination tool, providing two different methods to examine the liver: Liver Stiffness Measurement (LSM) and Controlled Attenuation Parameter (CAP). LSM is a parameter to estimate liver fibrosis and CAP calculates the percentage of fat accumulation in the liver.

In short, TE technically functions as follows: Low frequency and low amplitude vibrations are sent via a transducer probe which is placed on the vibrator into the liver tissue. In this way a shear wave is induced and propagates through the tissue. These shear waves are measured through pulse-echo ultrasound acquisitions in the probe. The velocity of the shear waves is directly related to the liver stiffness: the stiffer the liver tissue, the faster the shear wave is propagated (19). The results of LSM are displayed in kilopascal (kPa). CAP measures the attenuation of the above-mentioned shear wave propagation, producing results in decibels per meter (dB/m). Higher fat accumulation in the liver results in higher CAP values.

The FibroScan [®] device operates with three probes: S, M and XL probe. For our study, we used either the M probe (25-65mm measurement depth) or the XL probe (35-75mm measurement depth). The FibroScan[®] device includes the Automatic Probe Selection (APS) tool, which indicates which of the two probes should be used for measurement. The selection of probes depends on the distance between probe and liver capsule. As soon as the probe is in contact with the skin of the participant it uses the ultrasound signals to estimate the distance between skin and liver capsule and recommends the right probe on this basis. The measurement was successful when 10 valid data points could be measured.

The necessity of 10 valid measurements shows that one single measurement is not necessarily fully reliable. Taking that into account, we checked for the reliability and reproducibility of our

results while conducting the tests. Therefore, we performed double measurements on 249 participants. With the aim of assessing intra-observer reliability, we calculated the overall concordance correlation coefficient (OCCC), the overall precision (OPREC) and overall accuracy (OACCU) (20,21).

Transient Elastography results in pediatric context

Transient Elastography has become an established examination method in adult hepatology (22,23). Yet, by now, several recent studies established that TE is a reliable method to detect NAFLD respectively liver fibrosis in children as well (24–31). About a decade ago, Nobili et al. already investigated a small cohort of children with regards to the reproducibility and accuracy of TE in detecting NAFLD in children and presented good results for both (25). Nobili et al. also conducted a review about the usefulness of TE as a diagnostic tool for the assessment of liver fibrosis in pediatrics and predicted the great potential of it (28). Likewise, Alkhouri et al. stated that TE is an accurate method to detect significant fibrosis in children (32).

In a different approach, presenting a very valuable contribution to the field, Fitzpatrick et al. performed TE measurements in 104 children who underwent liver biopsy for different reasons, compared the results of biopsy and TE and came to the conclusion that TE is a reliable method detecting liver fibrosis in children (24).

In their review about different non-invasive diagnostic tools for NAFLD in children, Draijer et al. stated that most of them still need to be validated, but, amongst two others, TE (by FibroScan ®) showed the best performance (33).

Yet to date, reliable reference values for LSM and CAP have been only available for adults (22,34–36). A couple of studies also examined TE test results of children, but most of them investigated children with pre-existing diseases like obesity, NAFLD or other liver diseases like hepatitis (24,34,37–40).

Tackling that research gap, a few recent studies investigated healthy children and adolescents (41–45). However, these studies mostly examined rather small or partially age-homogenous cohorts, therefore lacking generalizability. Zeng et al. (41), for instance, presented reference values based on a very large cohort, yet the cohort only covered five-year-olds, thus lacking evidence for other age groups. Tokuhara et al. investigated a more heterogenous age range, yet their cohort consisted only of 123 children (43). A similar limitation applies to the study of Mjelle et al., who investigated a rather small cohort of 230 children (42). Moreover, studies

often research solely into either LSM or CAP values. Li et al., for instance, investigated a large cohort of children (652 participants), yet only conducted LSM measurements (45).

Further on, the study results are partially contradictory with regards to TE test results and corresponding potential influencing factors. To take the age-dependency of LSM test results as an example: While some studies reported an increasement of test results over age (42,43,45-47), Ramirez et al., who investigated a cohort of 462 healthy children and provided reference values, found no effect of age on LSM (44). Potential reasons for this inconsistency include a different age range (12 - 20 years) as well as a different ethnic and geographic background of the cohort. A recent meta-analysis with 1702 participants, on the other hand, ascertained that values increase with age (45). Overall, Mjelle et al. (42) state that there is about the same number of studies indicating an age-dependency of LSM values as there is for age-independency.

The same accounts for the sex-dependency of LSM test results. Several studies could show that LSM test results are higher for boys (42,46,47). Tokuhara et al., on the other hand, could not find any influence of sex on LSM results (43). Likewise, the above-mentioned study by Ramirez et al. (44) did not find sex-dependent alterations of LSM.

This clearly highlights the necessity of further investigation into the age- and sex-dependency of LSM values in the pediatric context.

With regard to pediatric CAP measurements, there are only a few published studies providing reference values. Ramirez et al. (44) presented stable, age- and sex-independent CAP values from the ages 12 to 20. This result was also endorsed by a recent study by Ferraioli et al. (48). Yet, the data basis researched into is still too thin to arrive at reliable, generalizable conclusions.

Therefore, definitely, more studies researching into the TE measurements LSM and CAP of, ideally, a large cohort of healthy children and adolescents are needed. Furthermore, to make use of the potential of TE as a reliable tool to detect NAFLD at an early stage, one would, first of all, need respective reference values of healthy pediatric populations.

Exactly this is the underlying endeavor of our research which is addressed in this dissertation: We present pediatric percentiles with respective reference values for TE measurements derived from a large cohort of healthy children and adolescents.

Influencing factors

In medicine, and especially in pediatrics, diagnostics and the assessment of test results must always be seen in context with potential influencing factors, like, amongst many others, the age of a patient.

Take, e. g., bodyweight, to name the most simple and obvious example for that requirement: Whether the bodyweight of 10 kg of a hypothetical pediatric patient is physiological or pathological can only be assessed when we know about influencing factors, especially age. Whether the patient is 2 months, 2 years or twelve years makes a major difference for the classification of that weight.

Capturing this necessity, in our study we examined the potential influence of age and sex on TE values to attain an informational background against which practitioners can better evaluate test results. Furthermore, to increase, both, breadth and accuracy of our study results and the consequent reference values, we also examined the influence of weight status and pubertal stage on TE test results. The factors of age and sex are more or less self-explanatory, being derived from the study participants' birth dates (age: number in years; sex: male or female), only the influencing factors of weight status and pubertal stage will be explained more precisely in the following.

Weight status

We classified the participants' weight status according to the guidelines of the German Obesity Association (49,50) as follows:

Normal weight	$\geq 10^{\text{th}}$ and $\leq 90^{\text{th}}$ age- and sex-specific percentile or
	BMI-SDS < 1.28 BMI-SDS
Overweight	>90 th and <97 th age- and sex-specific percentile or
	BMI-SDS >1,28 and < 1.88
Obesity	$>97^{\text{th}}$ and $\leq 99.5^{\text{th}}$ age- and sex-specific percentile or
	BMI-SDS ≥1.88

BMI was calculated and transformed into standard deviation scores (SDS) according to the same guidelines. In adult medicine, the BMI thresholds are the same for every age: BMI <18.5 = underweight, BMI 18.5 - 24.9 = normal weight, BMI 25 - 29.9 = overweight, BMI >30 obesity (51). Yet, in pediatrics BMI reference/standard values do not account equally for every age but differ dependent on the age of a patient. In order to be able to classify BMI for every age, one could either compare the percentiles or, more simply, one can translate them to SDS values and in this way categorize them (49).

Pubertal status

Pubertal stage was assessed according to Tanner (52,53).

To define the Tanner stage for girls, the stages of development of two secondary sex characters are assessed: first, the breast development (B1-5) and, second, the development of pubic hair (P 1-6) (53).

Accordingly, the Tanner stage for boys is assessed by the stages of development of secondary sex characters as well. Instead of breast development, the changes in the genitalia (penis, testes and scrotum) (G1-5) are classified combined with the development of the pubic hair (P1-6) analogous to girls (52).

These changes are then being classified in five, respectively six different stages of development: B1-5/G1-5, P1-6).

For our study, we used 5 pubertal stages, based on the Tanner stages, reaching from 1 (= preadolescent) to 5 (= adult stage) (54).

LIFE Child Study

Study design

The data for our study originated from the LIFE Child study which is a part of `Leipziger Forschungszentrums für Zivilisationserkrankungen' (LIFE) of Leipzig University.

LIFE Child is a prospective longitudinal population-based cohort study with a life course approach to health and disease (55). As a part of LIFE, a research project conducted at the Leipzig Research Center for Civilization Diseases, LIFE Child aims to monitor healthy child development from birth to adulthood as well as to understand the development of noncommunicable diseases such as obesity (54). The study was designed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki (56). The Ethics Committee of the University of Leipzig approved the study (Reg. No. 26410-19042010), which is registered with ClinicalTrials.gov under the clinical trial number NCT02550236.

Setting

Fully informed and written consent to participate in this study was obtained from all participants' parents, respectively from the legal guardians of participants and from the age of twelve on also from the participants themselves.

Participants

Children from Leipzig or neighboring municipalities in Germany were recruited via advertisement at different institutions, by media or by word of mouth. The children were primarily healthy, without severe disorders like malignancies, syndromal diseases or diabetes. Accordingly, the acquired test results are qualified for generating reference values.

Data Acquisition

Each study visit contained age-customized interviews, medical examinations, standardized tests, questionnaires and the collection of biological samples, as well as the implementation of FibroScan® measurements (54,55).

For our study the following measurement results were analyzed:

Age: Number in years according to the birth dates/personal documents of the participants.

Sex: Categories female or male according to the birth certificates/personal documents of the participants.

Height: Height was measured using a stadiometer ("Prof. Keller"; Längenmesstechnik GmbH Limbach, Limbach-Oberfrohna, Germany, measurement accuracy 0.10 cm).

Weight: Participants were weighed with the "Seca701" scale (seca GmbH & Co.KG, Hamburg, Germany, accurate to 50 g).

Pubertal status: Pubertal stage was assessed by specially trained and regularly instructed investigators and classified to 5 pubertal stages, based on the Tanner stages (see above).

TE: The examination was carried out after an overnight fast by specially trained and regularly re-certified examiners. The participants were asked to lie on the back, the right arm maximally abducted, and to stay immobile during the examination. Those participants who were designated for dual measurements were asked to stay in the same position after the first measurement, and the second measurement was performed by the same examiner immediately afterwards.

Laboratory parameters: Blood samples were taken from the participants after an overnight fast. Serum glucose concentrations were measured by the photometric method (Roche, Basel, Switzerland). Serum insulin concentrations were measured using a quantitative electrochemiluminescence method (Roche) (57). Homeostasis model assessment for insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) was calculated as described in Matthews et al. (58).

Hypothesis

Given the above-mentioned relevance of Transient Elastography and the apparent lack of reference values, respectively percentiles in a pediatric context, we used the large study population of the LIFE Child study to derive reference values and to investigate the possible influencing factors age, sex, weight status and pubertal stage.

We did so due to the following assumptions:

Backed by latest research in our field, we started from the assumption that TE is a reliable tool to detect liver pathologies by identifying alterations in liver stiffness and/or percentage of fat in the liver tissue, especially NAFLD, in children at an early stage.

Furthermore, we presumed that to detect liver diseases, especially NAFLD, in children early by alterations of test results, one needs reference values of healthy children to be able to identify deviations from the norm (that is, from the reference values).

Following that approach, we premised that to generate genuine reference values, one needs to research into a large study cohort of healthy children.

Further on, we assumed that to evaluate test results and their potential 'healthy' development over time, one needs to consider potential influencing factors on these results to check for alterations that are merely occurring due to 'normal'/'healthy' physiological development.

We postulated that, presumably, the most relevant potential influencing factors on TE test results are age, sex, weight status and pubertal stage.

Thus, we formed our research question as follows:

Q: Do age, sex, weight status and pubertal stage have an impact on TE test results of children and adolescents?

Combining the above-mentioned premises and research question we obtained our hypothesis:

H: By investigating into the TE test results of a large study group of healthy children and checking for the potential influence of age, sex, weight status and pubertal stage on that test results, one can generate reliable reference values for TE measurements in children and, thus, establish generalizable percentiles for TE test results in the pediatric context.

Attempting to validate our hypothesis, we

- performed double measurements to assess accuracy and precision of our TE measurements;
- defined percentiles using data of children with normal-weight and children with overweight;
- > assessed the influence of age, sex, weight status and pubertal stage on TE results.

Publication

Pediatric Percentiles for Transient Elastography Measurements - Effects of Age, Sex, Weight Status and Pubertal Stage

Lina Brunnert, Ika Damayanti Puasa, Antje Garten, Melanie Penke, Susanne Gaul, Nico Grafe, Thomas Karlas, Wieland Kiess, Gunter Flemming, Mandy Vogel

Received August 29th, 2022, accepted September 8^{th, 2022}, published online on September 27th 2022

Published online in Frontiers in Endocrinology: Endocrine and Metabolic Consequences of Childhood Obesity Volume II

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Artur Mazur, University of Rzeszow, Poland

REVIEWED BY

Daniel Weghuber, Paracelsus Medical University, Austria Serhiy Nyankovskyy, Danylo Halytsky Lviv National Medical University, Ukraine

*CORRESPONDENCE Mandy Vogel

mandy.vogel@medizin.uni-leipzig.de

^tThese authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

[‡]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share senior authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Obesity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 29 August 2022 ACCEPTED 08 September 2022 PUBLISHED 27 September 2022

CITATION

Brunnert L, Puasa ID, Garten A, Penke M, Gaul S, Grafe N, Karlas T, Kiess W, Flemming G and Vogel M (2022) Pediatric percentiles for transient elastography measurements - effects of age, sex, weight status and pubertal stage. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:1030809. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1030809

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Brunnert, Puasa, Garten, Penke, Gaul, Grafe, Karlas, Kiess, Flemming and Vogel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or

reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author (s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Pediatric percentiles for transient elastography measurements - effects of age, sex, weight status and pubertal stage

Lina Brunnert^{1†}, Ika Damayanti Puasa^{1†}, Antje Garten¹, Melanie Penke¹, Susanne Gaul^{1,2}, Nico Grafe³, Thomas Karlas⁴, Wieland Kiess^{1,3}, Gunter Flemming^{1‡} and Mandy Vogel^{1,3*‡}

¹Center for Pediatric Research, University Hospital for Children and Adolescents, Leipzig, Germany, ²Clinic and Polyclinic for Cardiology, Leipzig University Medical Center, Leipzig, Germany, ³Leipzig Research Center for Civilization Diseases, LIFE Child, Leipzig, Germany, ⁴Department of Medicine II, Division of Gastroenterology, Leipzig University Medical Center, Leipzig, Germany

Background and aims: Transient Elastography is a non-invasive, cost-efficient, non-ionizing, observer-independent and reliable method to detect liver fibrosis using Liver Stiffness Measurement (LSM) and the degree of fat accumulation in the liver using Controlled Attenuation Parameter (CAP). This study aims to derive reference values for both measures from healthy children and adolescents. Further, we aim to assess the potential influence of age, sex, puberty, and BMI-SDS on CAP and LSM.

Methods: Within the LIFE Child study, amongst others, anthropometric data and pubertal status were assessed. Transient Elastography (TE) was performed using the FibroScan[®] device in a population-based cohort at 982 study visits of 482 healthy children aged between 10 and 18 years. Percentiles for LSM and CAP were estimated, and the effects of age, sex, puberty and weight status were assessed through hierarchical regression models.

Results: There was a strong age dependency for LSM with higher values for older children, most pronounced in the upper percentiles in boys. Contrarily, CAP was relatively stable across the age span without considerable difference between boys and girls. We found a significant positive correlation between BMI-SDS and both CAP and LSM for BMI-SDS >1.28. For BMI-SDS < 1.28, the association was also positive but reached statistical significance only for CAP. Further, the association between BMI-SDS and CAP was significantly stronger in younger than in older children. There was no association between pubertal status and CAP. For LSM, we found that children with a high BMI-SDS but not children with normal weight had significantly higher LSM values in Tanner stage 4.

Conclusions: Age, sex, pubertal status and weight status should be considered when interpreting LSM and CAP in pediatric patients to facilitate and improve

early detection of abnormal liver function, which is associated with common pathologies, such as NAFLD.

KEYWORDS

non-alcoholic fatty liver disease – NAFLD, fibroscan, liver stiffness, reference values, obesity, pediatrics

Introduction

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is the most common liver disease in children and adolescents. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis estimated a global NAFLD prevalence of 7.6% in children. Moreover, in studies focusing on children with obesity, the prevalence was as high as 34.2% (1). Due to its association with obesity, NAFLD has already become a health issue of pandemic dimensions (2). Considering the growing number of children and adolescents with obesity worldwide (3), the impact of NAFLD on public health will likely increase even further.

NAFLD can lead to liver fibrosis and cirrhosis and increases the risk of developing hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) (4, 5). Moreover, NAFLD is associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes and increased mortality at adult age (2). Detected at early stages, before the liver is irreversibly damaged, NAFLD is treatable with lifestyle modifications, e. g., improved diet, increased physical activity and weight loss (6). There is a high probability of successful development of future pharmacological treatment options, since several drugs for children with NAFLD have been tested in phase 2 trials recently (2). To facilitate successful treatment, detecting NAFLD in pediatric patients accurately at an early stage is imperative.

Until today, the gold standard for diagnosing NAFLD is the histopathological examination of a liver biopsy. However, liver biopsy in children raises several ethical issues and is therefore reluctantly performed. Children often need general anesthesia, which entails a risk for the patient. Additionally, there is the risk of bleeding or mispuncture. Furthermore, since only a tiny part of the liver is examined, there is a risk of misdiagnosis due to sampling bias (7). Hence, reliable non-invasive diagnostic tools are urgently needed.

Various serum parameters and imaging procedures have been evaluated in several studies over the last years, but mostly with rather disappointing results (2, 6, 8–10). Measurement of alanine transaminase (ALT), for instance, is the most common serum parameter for screening, but physiological levels are no reliable predictor for the absence of NAFLD. Moreover, most imaging procedures bring their own disadvantages. CT detects fibrosis and steatosis reliably; however, it must not be used regularly in pediatric patients because of radiation burden. MRI, which works without radiation and is also very sensitive, is expensive and not widely available, rendering it unsuitable to be the standard procedure for detecting NAFLD. Regular ultrasound, on the other hand, is non-ionizing, inexpensive and widely available, but not reliable in detecting NAFLD (2).

Transient Elastography (TE, by FibroScan[®] (Echosens, Paris, France)) has drawn a high amount of academic interest since it is a cost-efficient, observer-independent and nonionizing method to detect fibrosis and steatosis reliably (11– 18). FibroScan[®] provides two different methods to examine the liver: liver stiffness measurement (LSM) and controlled attenuation parameter (CAP). While LSM is a parameter to estimate liver fibrosis, CAP quantifies the percentage of liver fat.

However, to use TE in pediatric practice, reliable reference values of healthy children - including the potential influence of age, sex, weight and pubertal status - are needed. By drawing from a large, longitudinal, deeply characterized cohort of healthy children, this study aims to provide percentiles for both LSM and CAP measurement. Moreover, we will examine the potential influence of sex, age, BMI and pubertal status on these two parameters. Hereby, we hope to facilitate a better interpretation of test results and, thus, to make a beneficial contribution to pediatric practice with regard to detecting and, ideally, treating NAFLD.

Materials and methods

This article is structured according to the STROBE (Strengthening the Reporting of Observational studies in Epidemiology) Statement checklist for cohort studies (19).

Study design

The LIFE Child study is a prospective longitudinal population-based cohort study with a life course approach to health and disease (20). As a part of LIFE, a research project conducted at the Leipzig Research Center for Civilization Diseases, LIFE Child aims to monitor healthy child development from birth to adulthood and to understand the development of non-communicable diseases such as obesity (21). The study was designed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki (22). The Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the University of Leipzig approved the study (Reg. No. 26410-19042010), which is registered with ClinicalTrials.gov under the clinical trial number NCT02550236.

Setting

Fully informed and written consent was obtained from all participants (from the age of twelve) and their parents. Each study visit contained age-customized interviews, medical examinations, standardized tests, questionnaires and the collection of biological samples, as well as the implementation of FibroScan[®] measurements (20, 21).

Participants

Children from Leipzig or neighboring municipalities in Germany were recruited via advertisement at different institutions, by media or by word of mouth. The children were primarily healthy, without severe disorders like malignancies, syndromal diseases or diabetes. Accordingly, the acquired test results are qualified for generating reference values. Height was measured using a stadiometer ("Prof. Keller"; Längenmesstechnik GmbH Limbach, Limbach-Oberfrohna, Germany, measurement accuracy 0.10 cm). Participants were weighed with the "Seca701" scale (seca GmbH & Co.KG, Hamburg, Germany, accurate to 50 g). BMI was calculated and transformed into standard deviation scores (SDS) according to the guidelines of the German Obesity Association (23, 24). Overweight and obesity were defined according to the same guidelines (23, 24) as 1.28 < BMI-SDS < 1.88 and BMI-SDS \geq 1.88, respectively. Pubertal stage was assessed according to Tanner (25, 26) by specially trained and regularly instructed investigators.

Study size

Data from 1491 visits provided by 698 individuals from the LIFE Child cohort with a complete data set (CAP, LSM, sex, age, pubertal stage, and BMI) were available. In N=249 cases, we performed double measurements.

Our exclusion criteria were:

- Measurements from participants younger than 10 years and older than 18 years of age were excluded (N=71 visits and 41 children), due to the small number of measurements below and above that age.
- 2. Participants with the intake of at least 1 of 92 potentially hepatotoxic drugs (listed in Supplementary Table 1) at

the time of measurement were excluded, N= 62 visits and 10 children.

The remaining visits N=1358 from 647 children were used for the assessment of influence factors (sex, age, BMI-SDS, pubertal status).

For the calculation of LSM and CAP percentiles, we excluded 165 participants (231 visits) with a BMI-SDS $< 3^{rd}$ and $>97^{th}$ percentile (BMI-SDS < -1.88 and BMI-SDS>1.88), resulting in data from 982 visits from 482 individuals.

Glucose and insulin measurements were available from 625 visits from 196 individuals.

Transient elastography measurement

The examination was carried out after an overnight fast by specially trained and regularly re-certified examiners. The participants were asked to lie on the back, the right arm maximally abducted, and to stay immobile during the examination. Those participants who were designated for dual measurements were asked to stay in the same position after the first measurement, and the second measurement was performed by the same examiner immediately afterwards.

LSM and CAP values were measured using the FibroScan[®] device with the M probe (25 - 65 mm measurement depth) or XL probe (35 - 75 mm measurement depth). The FibroScan[®] device includes the Automatic Probe Selection (APS) tool, which indicates which of the two probes should be used for measurement. LSM measures the propagation of produced shear waves, and the results are displayed in kilopascals (kPa). CAP measures the attenuation of the above-mentioned shear wave propagation, producing results in decibels per meter (dB/m). The measurement was successful when 10 valid data points could be measured.

Laboratory parameters

Blood samples were taken from the participants after an overnight fast. Serum glucose concentrations were measured by the photometric method (Roche, Basel, Switzerland). Serum insulin concentrations were measured using a quantitative electrochemiluminescence method (Roche) (27). Homeostasis model assessment for insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) was calculated as described in Matthews et al. (28).

Statistical analyses

Descriptive statistics are given as mean and standard deviations for continuous and counts and percentages for categorical variables.

References for LSM and CAP were estimated as a continuous function of age, stratified by sex using the LMS method as implemented in the package gamlss (29). We corrected for multiple measurements per person by setting weights on the observations accordingly. Subsequently, CAP and LSM measurements were transformed to standard deviation scores applying the new references.

Associations between LSM and CAP as outcome and the assumed predictors (sex, age, BMI-SDS, and pubertal stage) were assessed using hierarchical regression analysis. To assess the effect of puberty, raw measurements of LSM and CAP were used because of the strong dependency between age and puberty; in all other models, the age- and sex-adjusted SDS were used as outcome. All models were adjusted for multiple measurements per subject by adding the subject as random effect. The nature of associations was investigated using non-parametrical generalized additive models. The association between LSM and BMI-SDS required polynomial modeling (3rd degree). Otherwise, linear approximation yielded a sufficient fit. We tested for relevant interactions between predictors. Model terms were only kept if they were necessary. In addition, models were tested for variance inflation. Results were reported as (non-standardized) coefficients and the respective 95%-confidence interval.

To assess intraobserver reliability, we calculated the overall concordance correlation coefficient (OCCC) (30, 31). In addition, we report the components overall precision (OPREC) and overall accuracy (OACCU) and present the respective Bland-Altman plots. The chosen strength-of-agreement categories are orientated to those of the Pearson product-moment correlation: $CCC \ge 0.9$ ("excellent"); < 0.9 and ≥ 0.7 ("good"); < 0.7 and ≥ 0.5 ("moderate"); and < 0.5 ("low").

The mediating effect of hepatic insulin resistance was assessed by mediation analyses using HOMA-IR implemented *via* a structural equation model.

Analyses and visualization were performed using the packages gamlss (29), lme4 (32) (version 1.1.30) and ggplot2 (3.3.6) in R (version 4.2.1; R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) (33).

Results

Participants

We used the data of 482 (252 male, 231 female) healthy individuals, aged between 10 and 18 years with a BMI-SDS between 3rd and 97th percentile, who were examined between December 2013 and June 2022 in the context of the Leipzig Research Centre for Civilization Diseases (LIFE). Since LIFE Child is a longitudinal study, some participants were measured more than once over the period of 8 years, resulting in a total of 982 (624 male, 587 female) visits for the calculation of the percentiles. Dual measurements for the evaluation of FibroScan[®] validity were performed in 249 individuals. The population characteristics for the entire study population (N=1358) are listed in Table 1.

Reproducibility/FibroScan® validity

For both LSM and CAP, we could show an "excellent" OACCU. OCCC and OPREC were "good" for LSM and "moderate" for CAP. The results are shown in Table 2 and Figures 1A, B.

Percentiles for LSM and CAP are influenced by sex and age

The 3^{rd} , 10^{th} , 50^{th} , 90^{th} and 97^{th} percentile curves for LSM and CAP are shown for boys and girls in Figures 2A, B. The respective parameter values are shown in Supplementary Tables 2 (A)-(D).

LSM percentiles show increasing values for both sexes with, in general, higher values for boys, which becomes more pronounced in the upper percentiles (e.g., 16.5 years p50: girls=4.6kPa boys=5.1kPa; p97: girls=7.2kPa boys=8.5kPa). Also, the curve shapes differ from each other with regard to sex: The curves for girls ascend for the first 1.5 years, then slightly flatten for about 1.5 years, after which they ascend again until they reach their peak at about 16.5 years (P50 5.95kPa) which is followed by another slight drop in the 3rd, 10th and 50th percentile. The curves P50, P90 and P97 for boys, on the other hand, show continuous slopes until reaching their peaks, followed by a slight flattening. The age at which boys reach the highest values is comparable with that of girls (about 16.5 years) in P50, 90 and 97. In the lower percentiles, however, the highest values were measured at 18 years.

CAP percentiles show similarly shaped curves for boys and girls. The reference values are comparable as well. Comparing the reference values at the age of ten and 18 years, the lower percentiles show a tendency to descend slightly while the higher percentiles tend to ascend slightly, reaching their peaks at about 14 years. P50 depicts rather stable values during the eight years (boys: 200dB/m at age 11 and 15 years and 198db/m at age 18 years; girls: 188dB/m at age 11 years and 197dB/m from age 14.5 – 18 years).

The parameter tables are provided as part of the R package childs (version 0.8.0). The package also contains functions to transform measurement values into SDS and to create percentile curves. It is available from CRAN (https://cran.r-project.org/package=childsds).

	[ALL] N = 1358	male N = 692	female $N = 666$	p.overall
Sex:				
male	692 (51.0%)			
female	666 (49.0%)			
Age (years)	14.0 (2.81)	13.9 (2.87)	14.1 (2.74)	0.432
Pubertal Stage:				< 0.001
1	154 (15.3%)	91 (20.5%)	63 (11.2%)	
2	146 (14.5%)	77 (17.3%)	69 (12.2%)	
3	111 (11.0%)	42 (9.46%)	69 (12.2%)	
4	170 (16.8%)	73 (16.4%)	97 (17.2%)	
5	428 (42.4%)	161 (36.3%)	267 (47.3%)	
Weight status:				0.421
underweight/normal weight	885 (65.3%)	455 (65.8%)	430 (64.8%)	
overweight	129 (9.51%)	71 (10.3%)	58 (8.73%)	
obese	342 (25.2%)	166 (24.0%)	176 (26.5%)	
BMI-SDS	0.71 (1.39)	0.64 (1.33)	0.78 (1.45)	0.055

TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics of the study population.

Values are given as mean and standard deviations for continuous and counts and percentages for categorical variables.

TABLE 2 Results of the calculation of the OCCC, the OPREC and the OACCU for LSM and CAP of N=249 dual measurements.

	OCCC	OPREC	OACCU
LSM	0.74	0.76	0.97
CAP	0.66	0.66	1.0

OCCC, overall concordance correlation coefficient; OPREC, overall precision; OACCU, overall accuracy; LSM, Liver Stiffness Measurement; CAP, Controlled Attenuation Parameter. Results were classified as ≥ 0.9 "excellent"; < 0.9 and ≥ 0.7 "good"; < 0.7 and ≥ 0.5 "moderate"; and < 0.5 "low".

Influence of BMI-SDS on LSM and CAP

effect for older adolescents (beta $_{18years}$ =0.6, p<0.001). The effect of weight status on CAP did not differ between sexes.

After establishing percentiles, we assessed the association between weight status and both LSM and CAP values. In children with a BMI-SDS <1.28, there was a slightly positive association between LSM-SDS and BMI-SDS. However, it did not reach statistical significance (beta=0.07, p=0.48). In children with overweight and obesity, the respective effect size was three times as high, and the association became significantly positive (beta=0.26, p=0.025) (see Figure 3A). The two slopes were not significantly different from each other (beta_{Interaction}=0.19, p=0.289). The effects of weight status on LSM were not different, regardless of age and sex.

In children with a BMI-SDS <1.28, we found a significant positive association between CAP-SDS and BMI-SDS (beta=0.15, p<0.001). In children with a BMI-SDS >1.28, the effect size was six times as high (beta=0.95, p<0.001) (see Figure 3B). The two slopes were significantly different from each other (beta_{interaction}=0.85, p<0.001). In addition, the effect varied significantly with age, having the strongest effect for younger children (beta_{10years}=1.6, p<0.001) and the weakest

Influence of pubertal status on LSM

LSM increased significantly with advancing puberty in boys. The values were significantly higher in Tanner stage (TS) 3 (beta=1.1, p=0.029), TS 4 (beta=1.2, p=0.004), and TS 5 (beta=1.5, p<0.001) than in TS 1. In girls, there was no such distinct pattern. Considering weight status, there was a significant interaction between Tanner stage and BMI-SDS: While we found no effect of puberty in children with a BMI-SDS around or below 0, we found significantly higher LSM values for children with BMI-SDS of 1.88 or higher in TS 4 and 5. The effects were remarkably stronger in TS 4 (beta_{3BMI-SDS}=4.3, p<0.001; beta_{2.6BMI-SDS}=2.6, p<0.001; beta_{2.5BMI-SDS}=1.5, p=0.005) than in TS 5 (beta_{3BMI-SDS}=1.3, p=0.14; beta_{2.5BMI-SDS}=1.5, p=0.004; beta_{2.5BMI-SDS}=1.5, p=0.001) (see Figure 4). The association did not differ between sexes. The association of LSM with Tanner stage 4-5 was partly (approximately 1/3, p = 0.047)





explained by hepatic insulin resistance, which we measured as Homeostatic Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance (HOMA-IR).

Influence of pubertal status on CAP

There was no significant association between CAP results and puberty. Moreover, the association between BMI-SDS and CAP did not differ between Tanner stages. Values were, on average, 10 kPa higher for males than for females (p=0.012). There was no interaction between sex and Tanner stage or BMI-SDS.

Discussion

Considering the rising prevalence of obesity and concomitant liver diseases, especially NAFLD, in children and adolescents, non-invasive diagnostic tools to accurately detect liver pathologies in pediatric patients are urgently needed. Transient Elastography has been used extensively to aid the diagnosis of fatty liver disease and fibrosis in the adult population for which TE reference values are available (34– 36). Several studies have already postulated the need for reliable TE reference values for children, respectively the necessity of further detailed research on TE measurement in the pediatric context (6, 37).

With the aim to close this knowledge gap, this study provides pediatric reference values and presents the respective percentiles for the Transient Elastography measurements LSM and CAP, based on our investigation of a large and wellcharacterized cohort of healthy children and adolescents. We decided to include children with overweight when estimating percentiles because our analyses revealed that the influence of BMI-SDS was similar as in children with normal weight. In contrast, increasing BMI-SDS had considerably stronger effects on LSM and CAP for children with obesity (Figure 3).

Furthermore, we analyzed the influence of age, sex, weight and pubertal status on LSM and CAP. Thereby, we enable



FIGURE 3

Effect of weight status on LSM and CAP. Linear regression curves including a 95%-confidence band are shown for the association of (A) LSM-SDS and BMI-SDS and (B) CAP-SDS and BMI-SDS. N = 1358 from 647 children.



examiners and practitioners to interpret LSM and CAP test results in children more accurately, having appropriate reference values at hand.

Our research has shown that LSM is age-dependent, and LSM test results tend to increase with age in the pediatric context. Our reference values for LSM are generally in line with findings of other recent studies examining healthy children (38-43). Likewise, the increase over age was also observed in other studies (38-42). Contrary to this, Ramirez et al., who investigated a cohort of 462 healthy children and provided reference values as well, found no effect of age on LSM (43). Potential reasons for this inconsistency include a different age range (12 - 20 years) as well as a different ethnic and geographic background of the cohort. A recent meta-analysis with 1702 participants, on the other hand, also found that values increase with age (40). Zeng et al. (44) provided reference values

for five-year-olds based on a very large cohort. The reference values they established were remarkably lower than ours. Since we included participants starting at age 10 who, from the start, showed higher values compared to those of five-year-olds (Zeng 2019: LSM_{5years} median 3.2 kPa vs. Brunnert 2022: LSM_{10years} median 3.9 kPa), we regard their study results, taken together with ours, as strongly supporting the validity of the assumption that pediatric LSM values increase with age. However, Mjelle et al. (39) state that there is about the same number of studies indicating an age-dependency of LSM values as there is for ageindependency. This clearly highlights the need to further investigate the age-dependency of LSM values in the pediatric context. In our study, LSM values peak at 14.5 years and stay more or less stable afterwards. This leads to the assumption that after age 18 no further increase in LSM values will occur. This assumption is in line with the so far published studies of the adult population stating that LSM results show no agedependency (45, 46).

Moreover, our research has shown that LSM test results are higher for boys. This is also confirmed by results from other relevant recent studies (38, 39, 42). Tokuhara et al., on the other hand, could not find any influence of sex on LSM results (41). Likewise, the above-mentioned study by Ramirez et al. (43) did not find sex-dependent alterations of LSM. Since our study clearly shows the sex-dependency of LSM test results, we expect that future research will further validate this outcome.

We could not identify any correlation between age, sex and CAP. With regard to pediatric CAP measurements, there are only a few published studies providing reference values. Ramirez et al. (43) presented stable, age- and sex-independent CAP values from the ages 12 to 20. Their findings are in line with our observation that CAP values are neither age- nor sex-dependent. This was also shown by a recent study by Ferraioli et al. (47). However, Zeng et al. (44) identified a median CAP value of 171db/m for five-year-olds, so there might be a tendency for lower CAP values at younger ages, if we take into account that our values for older children and adolescents are remarkably higher (median LSM at age 15: 197dB/m for girls, 200dB/m for boys). Since we only analyzed results of children aged 10 years and older, our study could not add further insights on the question of whether CAP values increase below age 10.

We found a positive correlation between weight status and LSM as well as CAP test results, also found by Zeng et al. (44). In addition, Ferraioli et al. (47) examined CAP values of children categorized as 'normal weight', 'overweight' and 'obese'. They, too, found a significant positive association between CAP and weight status (30). Lee et al. evaluated LSM in children with obesity. Values were remarkably higher (16) than in our reference population, which further supports our finding of a considerable impact of weight status on LSM values.

Furthermore, we found that LSM but not CAP values differ across puberty. To our knowledge, we present the first examination of the impact of pubertal status on TE measurements. Partly, the effect might be explained by the increasing hepatic insulin resistance during puberty (48) as our results suggest. Another reason for increased hepatic insulin resistance is obesity (49). Accordingly, we found that adolescents with obesity had significantly higher LSM, especially in Tanner stage 4 and 5. The underlying mechanisms of this phenomenon are unclear and should be subject to future research.

Evaluating dual measurements, we could show that TE is a method with medium reproducibility. Our findings are in line with results of other studies investigating the reproducibility of TE measurements: Ferraioli et al. reported a concordance correlation coefficient (CCC) for CAP of 0.82 for children with normal weight and 0.6 for children with obesity (17). Rowland et al. reported a CCC for LSM of 0.85 (50). We would, therefore, suggest the implementation of a second measurement in case of borderline TE results, to improve the reliability of the results.

There are some limitations to our study. We only used data from a single study center with limited access to subjects with diverse ethnic background. Thus, our results are not necessarily representative of pediatric patients worldwide. Furthermore, families participating in the LIFE Child research project generally have a socio-economic status above average (51) which could also render our findings less representative with regard to both the global pediatric population as well as the general pediatric population of a particular state or region. In addition, the HOMA-IR was only available for a subpopulation (n = 196) which led to less power in the related analyses. Moreover, for evident ethical reasons, we did not perform liver biopsies to validate our test results.

Nevertheless, our study has several strengths. To our knowledge, this paper is the first to provide reference values for both LSM and CAP based on a large pediatric cohort from 10 to 18 years. Additionally, we established that age, sex, BMI-SDS and pubertal status have an impact on TE test results and, thus, should be considered when evaluating LSM and CAP values. Accordingly, we suggest our sex- and age-adapted reference values to interpret TE results in pediatric practice. There are numerous studies evaluating the usefulness and feasibility of TE for pediatric subjects, but most of them only examine patients with NAFLD or obesity. However, in pediatric practice, we need reference values guiding us in our endeavor to identify potential risks or existing diseases in patients. Thus, the reference values and percentiles we present in this paper can help us to red-flag conspicuous test results.

Given the already high and, most likely, further increasing prevalence of liver diseases such as NAFLD, it is paramount to detect potential diseases at an early stage. Our paper attempts to make a valuable contribution to this endeavor in terms of research as well as practice.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because data cannot be shared publicly because there exist ethical restrictions. The LIFE Child study is a study collecting potentially sensitive information. Publishing data sets is not covered by the informed consent provided by the study participants. Furthermore, the data protection concept of LIFE requests that all (external as well as internal) researchers interested in accessing data sign a project agreement. Researchers that are interested in accessing and analyzing data collected in the LIFE Child study may contact the data use and access committee (dm@life.uni-leipzig.de). Requests to access the datasets should be directed to dm@life.uni-leipzig.de.

Ethics statement

This study was reviewed and approved by The Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the University of Leipzig. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Author contributions

Conceptualization, SG, MP, WK, AG and GF. Methodology, TK, NG, GF and MV. Software MV. Validation, IP, NG and MV. Formal analysis IP, LB and MV. Investigation, IP, NG, GF, MV. Resources, TK, GF, WK and MV. Data curation, IP, LB and MV. Writing—original draft preparation LB, IP and MV. Writing review and editing, LB, AG, GF and MV. Visualization, IP, LB and MV. Supervision, GF, MV, AG and WK. Project administration, AG. Funding acquisition, SG, MP and WK. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This publication is supported by LIFE – Leipzig Research Center for Civilization Diseases, University of Leipzig. LIFE is funded by means of the European Union, by means of the European Social Fund (ESF, https://ec.europa.eu/regional_ policy/en/funding/social-fund/), by the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF, https://ec.europa.eu/regional_ policy/en/funding/erdf/), and by means of the Free State of Saxony. This publication was funded by the Open Access Publishing Fund of Leipzig University supported by the German Research Foundation within the program Open Access Publication Funding. Furthermore, we acknowledge support from the Roland-Ernst-Stiftung. The funders had no

References

1. Anderson EL, Howe LD, Jones HE, Higgins JPT, Lawlor DA, Fraser A. The prevalence of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in children and adolescents: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS One* (2015) 10(10):e0140908. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0140908

2. Draijer L, Benninga M, Koot B. Pediatric NAFLD: an overview and recent developments in diagnostics and treatment. *Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2019) 13(5):447-61. doi: 10.1080/17474124.2019.1595589

3. Abarca-Gómez L, Abdeen ZA, Hamid ZA, Abu-Rmeileh NM, Acosta-Cazares B, Acuin C. Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 128-9 million children, adolescents, and adults. *Lancet* (2017) 390(10113):2627-42. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17) 32129-3

4. Mann J, Valenti L, Scorletti E, Byrne C, Nobili V. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in children. *Semin Liver Dis* (2018) 38(01):001–13. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1627456

role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Acknowledgments

We are deeply grateful to all the families who have taken part in this study, and the whole LIFE Child team.

Conflict of interest

TK received unrestricted research grants from Echosens SA, France, not related to this project. TK took part in a clinical advisory board meeting of Echosens SA.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fendo.2022.1030809/full#supplementary-material

5. Khan HH, Klingert CE, Kumar S, Lyons H. Cirrhosis in a young child due to fatty liver; importance of early screening: A case report and review of the literature. *Am J Case Rep* (2020) 21:e923250. doi: 10.12659/AJCR.923250

6. Vos MB, Abrams SH, Barlow SE, Caprio S, Daniels SR, Kohli R. NASPGHAN clinical practice guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in children: Recommendations from the expert committee on NAFLD (ECON) and the north American society of pediatric gastroenterology, hepatology and nutrition (NASPGHAN). *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* (2017) 64(2):319–34. doi: 10.1097/MPG.00000000001482

7. Ratziu V, Charlotte F, Heurtier A, Gombert S, Giral P, Bruckert E. Sampling variability of liver biopsy in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology* (2005) 128(7):1898–906. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2005.03.084

8. Feldstein AE, Wieckowska A, Lopez AR, Liu YC, Zein NN, McCullough AJ. Cytokeratin-18 fragment levels as noninvasive biomarkers for nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: A multicenter validation study. *Hepatology* (2009) 50(4):1072–8. doi: 10.1002/hep.23050

9. Draijer LG, Oosterhout JPM, Vali Y, Zwetsloot S, Lee JH, Etten-Jamaludin FS. Diagnostic accuracy of fibrosis tests in children with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: A systematic review. *Liver Int* (2021) 41(9):2087–100. doi: 10.1111/liv.14908

10. Kwon Y, Kim ES, Choe YH, Kim MJ. Stratification by non-invasive biomarkers of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in children. *Front Pediatr* (2022) 10:846273. doi: 10.3389/fped.2022.846273

11. Fitzpatrick E, Quaglia A, Vimalesvaran S, Basso MS, Dhawan A. Transient elastography is a useful noninvasive tool for the evaluation of fibrosis in paediatric chronic liver disease. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* (2013) 56(1):72–6. doi: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e31826f2760

12. Nobili V, Vizzutti F, Arena U, Abraldes JG, Marra F, Pietrobattista A. Accuracy and reproducibility of transient elastography for the diagnosis of fibrosis in pediatric nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Hepatology* (2008) 48(2):442–8. doi: 10.1002/hep.22376

13. Friedrich-Rust M, Romen D, Vermehren J, Kriener S, Sadet D, Herrmann E. Acoustic radiation force impulse-imaging and transient elastography for non-invasive assessment of liver fibrosis and steatosis in NAFLD. *Eur J Radiol* (2012) 81 (3):e325–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2011.10.029

14. Sasso M, Miette V, Sandrin L, Beaugrand M. The controlled attenuation parameter (CAP): A novel tool for the non-invasive evaluation of steatosis using fibroscan[®]. *Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol* (2012) 36(1):13–20. doi: 10.1016/j.clinre.2011.08.001

15. Nobili V, Monti L, Alisi A, Zupone CL, Pietrobattista A, Tomà P. Transient elastography for assessment of fibrosis in paediatric liver disease. *Pediatr Radiol* (2011) 41(10):1232–8. doi: 10.1007/s00247-011-2143-y

16. Lee JE, Ko KO, Lim JW, Cheon EJ, Song YH, Yoon JM. Correlation between transient elastography (Fibroscan[®]) and ultrasonographic and computed tomographic grading in pediatric nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Pediatr Gastroenterol Hepatol Nutr* (2022) 25(3):240. doi: 10.5223/pghn.2022.25.3.240

17. Ferraioli G. Quantitative assessment of liver steatosis using ultrasound controlled attenuation parameter (Echosens). J Med Ultrason (2021) 48(4):489–95. doi: 10.1007/s10396-021-01106-1

18. Abenavoli L, Beaugrand M. Transient elastography in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Ann Hepatol (2012) 11(2):172–8. doi: 10.1016/S1665-2681(19)31021-X

19. von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP. The strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: Guidelines for reporting observational studies. *Int J Surg* (2014) 12(12):1495–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2014.07.013

20. Quante M, Hesse M, Döhnert M, Fuchs M, Hirsch C, Sergeyev E. The LIFE child study: a life course approach to disease and health. *BMC Public Health* (2012) 12(1):1021. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-1021

21. Poulain T, Baber R, Vogel M, Pietzner D, Kirsten T. The LIFE child study: a population-based perinatal and pediatric cohort in Germany. *Eur J Epidemiol* (2017) 32(2):145–58. doi: 10.1007/s10654-016-0216-9

22. World medical association declaration of Helsinki: Ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. *JAMA* (2013) 310(20):2191-4. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.281053

23. Kromeyer-Hauschild K, Wabitsch M, Kunze D, Geller F, Geiss HC, Hesse V. Percentiles of body mass index in children and adolescents evaluated from different regional German studies. *Monatsschr Kinderheilkd* (2001) 149(8):807–18. doi: 10.1007/s001120170107

24. Wabitsch M, Moss A. [Evidence-based (S3) guideline of the working group on childhood and adolescent obesity (AGA) of the German obesity society (DAG) and the German society of pediatrics and adolescent medicine (DGKJ)]. *Arbeitsgemeinschaft Adipositas im Kindes und Jugendalter (AGA)* (2019).

25. Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Variations in the pattern of pubertal changes in boys. Arch Dis Child (1970) 45(239):13–23. doi: 10.1136/adc.45.239.13

26. Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Variations in pattern of pubertal changes in girls. Arch Dis Child (1969) 44:291-303. doi: 10.1136/adc.44.235.291

27. Stanik J, Kratzsch J, Landgraf K, Vogel M, Thiery J, Kiess W. The bone markers sclerostin, osteoprotegerin, and bone-specific alkaline phosphatase are related to insulin resistance in children and adolescents, independent of their association with growth and obesity. *Horm Res Paediatr* (2019) 91(1):1–8. doi: 10.1159/000497113

28. Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, Naylor BA, Treacher DF, Turner RC. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. *Diabetologia* (1985) 28 (7):412–9. doi: 10.1007/BF00280883

29. Rigby RA, Stasinopoulos DM. Generalized additive models for location, scale and shape. *J R Stat Soc Ser C Appl Stat* (2005) 54(3):507–54. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9876.2005.00510.x

30. Lin LI. A concordance correlation coefficient to evaluate reproducibility. *Biometrics* (1989) 45(1):255. doi: 10.2307/2532051 31. Barnhart HX, Haber M, Song J. Overall concordance correlation coefficient for evaluating agreement among multiple observers. *Biometrics* (2002) 58(4):1020–7. doi: 10.1111/j.0006-341X.2002.01020.x

 Bates D, M\u00e4chler M, Bolker B, Walker S. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. J Stat Softw (2015) 67(1):1–48. doi: 10.18637/JSS.V067.I01

33. R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. r foundation for statistical computing. (2022).

34. Tovo CV, Villela-Nogueira CA, Leite NC, Panke CL, Port GZ, Fernandes S. Transient hepatic elastography has the best performance to evaluate liver fibrosis in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). *Ann Hepatol* (2019) 18(3):445–9. doi: 10.1016/j.aohep.2018.09.003

35. Eddowes PJ, Sasso M, Allison M, Tsochatzis E, Anstee QM, Sheridan D. Accuracy of FibroScan controlled attenuation parameter and liver stiffness measurement in assessing steatosis and fibrosis in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology* (2019) 156(6):1717–30. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.01.042

36. Noureddin M, Ntanios F, Malhotra D, Hoover K, Emir B, McLeod E. Predicting NAFLD prevalence in the united states using national health and nutrition examination survey 2017-2018 transient elastography data and application of machine learning. *Hepatol Commun* (2022) 6(7):1537-48. doi: 10.1002/hep4.1935

37. Tran LC, Ley D, Bourdon G, Coopman S, Lerisson H, Tillaux C. Noninvasive pediatric liver fibrosis measurement: Two-dimensional shear wave elastography compared with transient elastography. *Front Pediatr* (2022) 10:849815. doi: 10.3389/fped.2022.849815

38. Mărginean CO, Meliţ LE, Ghiga DV, Săsăran MO. Reference values of normal liver stiffness in healthy children by two methods: 2D shear wave and transient elastography. *Sci Rep* (2020) 10(1):7213. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-64320-w

39. Mjelle AB, Mulabecirovic A, Havre RF, Rosendahl K, Juliusson PB, Olafsdottir E. Normal liver stiffness values in children: A comparison of three different elastography methods. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* (2019) 68(5):706–12. doi: 10.1097/MPG.0000000002320

40. Li DK, Khan MR, Wang Z, Chongsrisawat V, Swangsak P, Teufel-Schäfer U. Normal liver stiffness and influencing factors in healthy children: An individual participant data meta-analysis. *Liver Int* (2020) 40(11):2602–11. doi: 10.1111/ liv.14658

41. Tokuhara D, Cho Y, Shintaku H. Transient elastography-based liver stiffness age-dependently increases in children. *PloS One* (2016) 11(11):e0166683. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0166683

42. Engelmann G, Gebhardt C, Wenning D, Wühl E, Hoffmann GF, Selmi B. Feasibility study and control values of transient elastography in healthy children. *Eur J Pediatr* (2012) 171:353–60. doi: 10.1007/s00431-011-1558-7

43. Ramírez-Vélez R, García-Hermoso A, Correa-Rodríguez M, Izquierdo M. Defining values for controlled attenuation parameter and liver stiffness in youth without liver disease. *Pediatr Res* (2022) 91(4):912–20. doi: 10.1038/s41390-021-01441-6

44. Zeng J, Zhang X, Sun C, Pan Q, Lu WY, Chen Q. Feasibility study and reference values of FibroScan 502 with m probe in healthy preschool children aged 5 years. *BMC Pediatr* (2019) 19(1):129. doi: 10.1186/s12887-019-1487-6

45. Alsebaey A. Normal liver stiffness: A study in living donors with normal liver histology. World J Hepatol (2015) 7(8):1149. doi: 10.4254/wjh.v7.i8.1149

46. Suh CH, Kim SY, Kim KW, Lim YS, Lee SJ, Lee MG. Determination of normal hepatic elasticity by using real-time shear-wave elastography. *Radiology* (2014) 271(3):895–900. doi: 10.1148/radiol.14131251

47. Ferraioli G, Calcaterra V, Lissandrin R, Guazzotti M, Maiocchi L, Tinelli C. Noninvasive assessment of liver steatosis in children: the clinical value of controlled attenuation parameter. *BMC Gastroenterol* (2017) 17(1):61. doi: 10.1186/s12876-017-0617-6

48. Suzuki A, Abdelmalek MF, Schwimmer JB, Lavine JE, Scheimann AO, Unalp-Arida A. Association between puberty and features of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2012) 10(7):786–94. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2012.01.020

49. Maffeis C, Morandi A. Body composition and insulin resistance in children. Eur J Clin Nutr (2018) 72(9):1239–45. doi: 10.1038/s41430-018-0239-2

50. The Cystic Fibrosis Registry of Ireland, The Cystic Fibrosis Liver Disease Research Group, Rowland M, McGee A, Broderick A, Drumm B. Repeatability of transient elastography in children. *Pediatr Res* (2020) 88(4):587–92. doi: 10.1038/s41390-020-0916-4

51. Dathan-Stumpf A, Vogel M, Hiemisch A, Thiery J, Burkhardt R, Kratzsch J. Pediatric reference data of serum lipids and prevalence of dyslipidemia: Results from a population-based cohort in Germany. *Clin Biochem* (2016) 49(10–11):740–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2016.02.010

Summary

Dissertation zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

Dr. med.

Pediatric Percentiles for Transient Elastography Measurements - Effects of Age, Sex, Weight Status and Pubertal Stage

Eingereicht von:	Lina Brunnert
Angefertigt an:	der Universität Leipzig, Medizinische Fakultät, Klinik und Poliklinik für Kinder und Jugendliche in Zusammenarbeit mit dem Leipziger Forschungszentrum für Zivilisationserkrankungen (LIFE)
Betreut von:	Prof. Dr. med. Wieland Kiess, Dr. rer. nat. Antje Garten und Dr. rer. med. Mandy Vogel

Monat und Jahr der Einreichung: Dezember 2022

NAFLD has become the most common liver disease in children and adolescents due to its correlation with obesity which is a pandemic disease with a still rising prevalence. Since there are therapeutic options when NAFLD is detected at an early stage, a reliable and early diagnose is paramount. In recent years, Transient Elastography (TE) has emerged as an appropriate tool in that regard. It is non-invasive, painless, observer-independent, cost-efficient, non-ionizing as well as reliable.

Until today, TE reference values are only available for adults and it is well known that reference values for adult populations are rarely applicable to pediatric populations. Thus, our aim was to generate pediatric percentiles and reference values for the TE measurements LSM and CAP.

Therefore, we analyzed the test results of the TE measurements LSM and CAP of a large and healthy cohort from the LIFE child study and derived reference values from these data. To calculate these reference values, we used the data of 982 visits from 482 individuals aged 10 to

18 years. Participants with a BMI-SDS $< 3^{rd}$ and $>97^{th}$ percentile (BMI-SDS < -1.88 and BMI-SDS>1.88) and/or with intake of potentially hepatotoxic drugs were excluded. TE measurements were implemented on fasting participants by trained examiners. From the resulting CAP and LSM values, we derived our reference values with corresponding percentiles.

We could show that LSM values increase with age and are higher for boys than for girls. This age- and sex-dependency is in line with other recent studies, yet there are also studies which state the opposite.

Our CAP results, on the other hand, are not influenced by age and sex. This result is also mirrored by other recent studies.

Beside the establishment of age- and sex-adjusted percentiles, our aim was to analyze the potential influence of weight status and pubertal stage on TE results. In this regard, we used the data of 1358 visits (of 647 children); children with under- or overweight were included.

We found a positive association between weight status and, both, LSM and CAP values.

The inquiry into the interaction between LSM values and weight status yielded the following: In children with a BMI-SDS <1.28, respectively participants with normal weight, there was a slightly positive association between LSM-SDS and BMI-SDS. Yet, the results did not reach statistical significance. In children with overweight and obesity, the respective effect size was three times higher, and the association became significantly positive. The effects of weight status on LSM were the same, independent of age and sex.

The same inquiry into CAP values showed the following results: In children with a BMI-SDS <1.28, we found a significantly positive association between CAP-SDS and BMI-SDS. In children with a BMI-SDS >1.28, the effect size was six times higher. Furthermore, the effect varied significantly depending on the age of the patient, having the strongest effect for younger children and the weakest effect for older adolescents. There was no effect of weight status on CAP dependent on sex.

This result is backed up by other recently published studies.

To the best of our knowledge, to date, there is no published study investigating the potential influence of puberty on TE results. Thus, we attempted to close this research gap. Whereas we

could not find a significant association between CAP results and puberty, LSM test results showed a significant increasement with advancing puberty in boys. The values were significantly higher in Tanner stage (TS) 3, TS 4, and TS 5 than in TS 1. We could not find a similar pattern in girls.

Focusing upon weight status, we recognized a significant interaction between Tanner stage and BMI-SDS: While we could not identify an effect of puberty in children with a BMI-SDS about or below 0, we detected significantly higher LSM values for children with BMI-SDS of 1.88 or higher in TS 4 and 5. Further on, we found remarkably stronger effects in TS 4 than in TS 5. Sex had no effect on that association.

We could partially shed light on the association of LSM with Tanner stage 4-5 by looking into hepatic insulin resistance, which we measured as Homeostatic Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance (HOMA-IR). Therefore, we analyzed 625 glucose and insulin measurements (625 visits; 196 individuals). The increasement of the hepatic insulin resistance during puberty could present an adequate explanation, since it leads to higher liver stiffness. Also, obesity is leading to an increase in hepatic insulin resistance. Accordingly, we found significantly higher LSM values in adolescents with obesity, especially in Tanner stage 4 and 5. The underlying logic of this association is yet to be found. Thus, future research should engage with this phenomenon.

To evaluate the validity of FibroScan®, we performed dual measurements in 249 individuals. With the aim of assessing intraobserver reliability, we calculated the overall concordance correlation coefficient (OCCC). Furthermore, we accounted for the components overall precision (OPREC) and overall accuracy (OACCU) and present the respective Bland-Altman plots. The chosen strength-of-agreement categories are orientated to those of the Pearson product-moment correlation: $CCC \ge 0.9 = excellent$; < 0.9 and $\ge 0.7 = \text{good}$; < 0.7 and $\ge 0.5 = \text{moderate}$; and < 0.5 = low. For both LSM and CAP, we could show an "excellent" OACCU. OCCC and OPREC were "good" for LSM and "moderate" for CAP.

In evaluation of the results, TE presented itself as a method with medium reproducibility. This is in line with results of other studies investigating the reproducibility of TE measurements. Thus, the implementation of a second measurement in case of borderline TE results seems advisable and does improve the reliability of the results.

There are also limitations regarding the generalizability of our test results: Albeit our research cohort is rather large, it is not particularly heterogenous in terms of socio-economic status as

well as geographically limited. Hence, further investigation into cohorts of a more diverse descent is needed.

Overall, in our study, we present age- and sex-adjusted percentiles and reference values for LSM and CAP measurements, which should be used to classify results in clinical practice. Furthermore, by providing results sensitive to the influencing factors weight status and pubertal stage, we enable the practitioner to see the results in context of the individual situation of the patient.

Therefore, we are confident that our study makes a valuable contribution to, both, research and practice, for we present reliable reference values and percentiles for TE measurement in children and adolescents that are sensitive for potential influencing factors and, thus, enable practitioners to an accurate assessment of individual TE test results, leading to an earlier and more precise identification as well as treatment of liver diseases in children, especially NAFLD.

References

- Abarca-Gómez L, Abdeen ZA, Hamid ZA, Abu-Rmeileh NM, Acosta-Cazares B, Acuin C, u. a. Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 128.9 million children, adolescents, and adults. The Lancet. Dezember 2017;390(10113):2627– 42.
- Anderson EL, Howe LD, Jones HE, Higgins JPT, Lawlor DA, Fraser A. The Prevalence of Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in Children and Adolescents: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Wong V, Herausgeber. PLOS ONE. 29. Oktober 2015;10(10):e0140908.
- 3. Mann J, Valenti L, Scorletti E, Byrne C, Nobili V. Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in Children. Semin Liver Dis. Februar 2018;38(01):001–13.
- 4. Crespo M, Lappe S, Feldstein AE, Alkhouri N. Similarities and differences between pediatric and adult nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Metabolism. August 2016;65(8):1161–71.
- 5. Mencin AA, Lavine JE. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in children. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. März 2011;14(2):151–7.
- 6. Kistler KD, Molleston J, Unalp A, Abrams SH, Behling C, Schwimmer JB, u. a. Symptoms and quality of life in obese children and adolescents with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. Februar 2010;31(3):396–406.
- Draijer L, Benninga M, Koot B. Pediatric NAFLD: an overview and recent developments in diagnostics and treatment. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 4. Mai 2019;13(5):447– 61.
- Khan HH, Klingert CE, Kumar S, Lyons H. Cirrhosis in a Young Child Due to Fatty Liver; Importance of Early Screening: A Case Report and Review of the Literature. Am J Case Rep [Internet]. 25. Juni 2020 [zitiert 15. Juli 2022];21. Verfügbar unter: https://www.amjcaserep.com/abstract/index/idArt/923250
- 9. Vos MB, Abrams SH, Barlow SE, Caprio S, Daniels SR, Kohli R, u. a. NASPGHAN Clinical Practice Guideline for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in Children: Recommendations from the Expert Committee on NAFLD (ECON) and the North American Society of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition (NASPGHAN). J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. Februar 2017;64(2):319–34.
- 10. Rotman Y, Sanyal AJ. Current and upcoming pharmacotherapy for non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. :11.
- Ratziu V, Charlotte F, Heurtier A, Gombert S, Giral P, Bruckert E, u. a. Sampling Variability of Liver Biopsy in Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Gastroenterology. Juni 2005;128(7):1898–906.

- 12. Kwon Y, Kim ES, Choe YH, Kim MJ. Stratification by Non-invasive Biomarkers of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in Children. Front Pediatr. 4. April 2022;10:846273.
- Maffeis C, Banzato C, Rigotti F, Nobili V, Valandro S, Manfredi R, u. a. Biochemical Parameters and Anthropometry Predict NAFLD in Obese Children. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. Dezember 2011;53(6):590–3.
- 14. Koot BGP, van der Baan-Slootweg OH, Bohte AE, Nederveen AJ, van Werven JR, Tamminga-Smeulders CLJ, u. a. Accuracy of prediction scores and novel biomarkers for predicting nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in obese children. Obes Silver Spring Md. März 2013;21(3):583–90.
- 15. Pacifico L, Celestre M, Anania C, Paolantonio P, Chiesa C, Laghi A. MRI and ultrasound for hepatic fat quantification:relationships to clinical and metabolic characteristics of pediatric nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Acta Paediatr. April 2007;96(4):542–7.
- 16. Cengiz M, Sentürk S, Cetin B, Bayrak AH, Bilek SU. Sonographic assessment of fatty liver: intraobserver and interobserver variability. :8.
- Bohte AE, Koot BGP, van der Baan-Slootweg OH, Rijcken THP, van Werven JR, Bipat S, u. a. US Cannot Be Used to Predict the Presence or Severity of Hepatic Steatosis in Severely Obese Adolescents. Radiology. Januar 2012;262(1):327–34.
- Shannon A, Alkhouri N, Carter-Kent C, Monti L, Devito R, Lopez R, u. a. Ultrasonographic Quantitative Estimation of Hepatic Steatosis in Children With NAFLD. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. August 2011;53(2):190–5.
- 19. de Lédinghen V, Vergniol J. Transient elastography (FibroScan). Gastroentérologie Clin Biol. September 2008;32(6):58–67.
- 20. Lin LIK. A Concordance Correlation Coefficient to Evaluate Reproducibility. Biometrics. März 1989;45(1):255.
- Barnhart HX, Haber M, Song J. Overall Concordance Correlation Coefficient for Evaluating Agreement Among Multiple Observers. Biometrics. Dezember 2002;58(4):1020–7.
- 22. Eddowes PJ, Sasso M, Allison M, Tsochatzis E, Anstee QM, Sheridan D, u. a. Accuracy of FibroScan Controlled Attenuation Parameter and Liver Stiffness Measurement in Assessing Steatosis and Fibrosis in Patients With Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Gastroenterology. Mai 2019;156(6):1717–30.
- 23. Karlas T, Petroff D, Garnov N, Böhm S, Tenckhoff H, Wittekind C, u. a. Non-invasive assessment of hepatic steatosis in patients with NAFLD using controlled attenuation parameter and 1H-MR spectroscopy. PloS One. 2014;9(3):e91987.
- 24. Fitzpatrick E, Quaglia A, Vimalesvaran S, Basso MS, Dhawan A. Transient Elastography Is a Useful Noninvasive Tool for the Evaluation of Fibrosis in Paediatric Chronic Liver Disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. Januar 2013;56(1):72–6.

- 25. Nobili V, Vizzutti F, Arena U, Abraldes JG, Marra F, Pietrobattista A, u. a. Accuracy and reproducibility of transient elastography for the diagnosis of fibrosis in pediatric nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology. August 2008;48(2):442–8.
- 26. Friedrich-Rust M, Romen D, Vermehren J, Kriener S, Sadet D, Herrmann E, u. a. Acoustic radiation force impulse-imaging and transient elastography for non-invasive assessment of liver fibrosis and steatosis in NAFLD. Eur J Radiol. März 2012;81(3):e325–31.
- 27. Sasso M, Miette V, Sandrin L, Beaugrand M. The controlled attenuation parameter (CAP): A novel tool for the non-invasive evaluation of steatosis using Fibroscan®. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol. Februar 2012;36(1):13–20.
- 28. Nobili V, Monti L, Alisi A, Zupone CL, Pietrobattista A, Tomà P. Transient elastography for assessment of fibrosis in paediatric liver disease. Pediatr Radiol. Oktober 2011;41(10):1232–8.
- 29. Lee JE, Ko KO, Lim JW, Cheon EJ, Song YH, Yoon JM. Correlation between Transient Elastography (Fibroscan[®]) and Ultrasonographic and Computed Tomographic Grading in Pediatric Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis. Pediatr Gastroenterol Hepatol Nutr. 2022;25(3):240.
- 30. Ferraioli G. Quantitative assessment of liver steatosis using ultrasound controlled attenuation parameter (Echosens). J Med Ultrason. Oktober 2021;48(4):489–95.
- 31. Abenavoli L, Beaugrand M. Transient elastography in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Ann Hepatol. März 2012;11(2):172–8.
- 32. Alkhouri N, Sedki E, Alisi A, Lopez R, Pinzani M, Feldstein AE, u. a. Combined paediatric NAFLD fibrosis index and transient elastography to predict clinically significant fibrosis in children with fatty liver disease. Liver Int Off J Int Assoc Study Liver. Januar 2013;33(1):79–85.
- 33. Draijer LG, Oosterhout JPM, Vali Y, Zwetsloot S, Lee JH, Etten-Jamaludin FS, u. a. Diagnostic accuracy of fibrosis tests in children with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: A systematic review. Liver Int. September 2021;41(9):2087–100.
- 34. Tovo CV, Villela-Nogueira CA, Leite NC, Panke CL, Port GZ, Fernandes S, u. a. Transient hepatic elastography has the best performance to evaluate liver fibrosis in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). Ann Hepatol. Mai 2019;18(3):445–9.
- 35. Noureddin M, Ntanios F, Malhotra D, Hoover K, Emir B, McLeod E, u. a. Predicting NAFLD prevalence in the United States using National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2017–2018 transient elastography data and application of machine learning. Hepatol Commun. Juli 2022;6(7):1537–48.
- 36. Alsebaey A. Normal liver stiffness: A study in living donors with normal liver histology. World J Hepatol. 2015;7(8):1149.
- 37. Gaia S, Carenzi S, Barilli AL, Bugianesi E, Smedile A, Brunello F, u. a. Reliability of transient elastography for the detection of fibrosis in Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease and chronic viral hepatitis. J Hepatol. Januar 2011;54(1):64–71.

- 38. Goyal R, Mallick SR, Mahanta M, Kedia S, Shalimar, Dhingra R, u. a. Fibroscan can avoid liver biopsy in Indian patients with chronic hepatitis B: Fibroscan in CHB. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. November 2013;28(11):1738–45.
- 39. Kim SU, Jang HW, Cheong JY, Kim JK, Lee MH, Kim DJ, u. a. The usefulness of liver stiffness measurement using FibroScan in chronic hepatitis C in South Korea: A multicenter, prospective study: FibroScan for chronic hepatitis C in Korea. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. Januar 2011;26(1):171–8.
- 40. Kwon YD, Ko KO, Lim JW, Cheon EJ, Song YH, Yoon JM. Usefulness of Transient Elastography for Non-Invasive Diagnosis of Liver Fibrosis in Pediatric Non-Alcoholic Steatohepatitis. J Korean Med Sci. 2019;34(23):e165.
- 41. Zeng J, Zhang X, Sun C, Pan Q, Lu WY, Chen Q, u. a. Feasibility study and reference values of FibroScan 502 with M probe in healthy preschool children aged 5 years. BMC Pediatr. Dezember 2019;19(1):129.
- 42. Mjelle AB, Mulabecirovic A, Havre RF, Rosendahl K, Juliusson PB, Olafsdottir E, u. a. Normal Liver Stiffness Values in Children: A Comparison of Three Different Elastography Methods. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. Mai 2019;68(5):706–12.
- 43. Tokuhara D, Cho Y, Shintaku H. Transient Elastography-Based Liver Stiffness Age-Dependently Increases in Children. Petta S, Herausgeber. PLOS ONE. 18. November 2016;11(11):e0166683.
- 44. Ramírez-Vélez R, García-Hermoso A, Correa-Rodríguez M, Izquierdo M. Defining values for controlled attenuation parameter and liver stiffness in youth without liver disease. Pediatr Res. März 2022;91(4):912–20.
- 45. Li DK, Khan MR, Wang Z, Chongsrisawat V, Swangsak P, Teufel-Schäfer U, u. a. Normal liver stiffness and influencing factors in healthy children: An individual participant data meta-analysis. Liver Int. November 2020;40(11):2602–11.
- 46. Mărginean CO, Meliț LE, Ghiga DV, Săsăran MO. Reference values of normal liver stiffness in healthy children by two methods: 2D shear wave and transient elastography. Sci Rep. Dezember 2020;10(1):7213.
- 47. Engelmann G, Gebhardt C, Wenning D, Wühl E, Hoffmann GF, Selmi B, u. a. Feasibility study and control values of transient elastography in healthy children. Eur J Pediatr. 2012;8.
- 48. Ferraioli G, Calcaterra V, Lissandrin R, Guazzotti M, Maiocchi L, Tinelli C, u. a. Noninvasive assessment of liver steatosis in children: the clinical value of controlled attenuation parameter. BMC Gastroenterol. Dezember 2017;17(1):61.
- 49. Kromeyer-Hauschild K, Wabitsch M, Kunze D, Geller F, Geiss HC, Hesse V, u. a. Percentiles of body mass index in children and adolescents evaluated from different regional German studies. Monatsschr Kinderheilkd. 2001;149(8):807–18.
- 50. Wabitsch M, Moss A. Evidenzbasierte (S3-) Leitlinie der Arbeitsgemeinschaft Adipositas im Kindes- und Jugendalter (AGA) der Deutschen Adipositas-Gesellschaft (DAG) und der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Kinder- und Jugendmedizin (DGKJ) [Internet].

Arbeitsgemeinschaft Adipositas im Kindes und Jugendalter (AGA); 2019. Verfügbar unter: https://www.awmf.org/leitlinien/detail/ll/050-002.html

- 51. Hauner H, Moss A, Berg A, Bischoff SC, Colombo-Benkmann M, Ellrott T, u. a. Interdisziplinäre Leitlinie der Qualität S3 zur "Prävention und Therapie der Adipositas": der Deutschen Adipositas-Gesellschaft e.V.; der Deutschen Diabetes Gesellschaft; der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Ernährung e.V.; der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Ernährungsmedizin e.V. Version 2.0 (April 2014); AWMF-Register Nr. 050-001. Adipositas - Ursachen Folgeerkrankungen Ther. 2014;08(04):179–221.
- 52. Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Variations in the Pattern of Pubertal Changes in Boys. Arch Dis Child. 1. Februar 1970;45(239):13–23.
- 53. Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Variations in Pattern of Pubertal Changes in Girls. :13.
- 54. Poulain T, Baber R, Vogel M, Pietzner D, Kirsten T, u. a. The LIFE Child study: a population-based perinatal and pediatric cohort in Germany. Eur J Epidemiol. Februar 2017;32(2):145–58.
- 55. Quante M, Hesse M, Döhnert M, Fuchs M, Hirsch C, Sergeyev E, u. a. The LIFE child study: a life course approach to disease and health. BMC Public Health. Dezember 2012;12(1):1021.
- 56. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects. JAMA. 27. November 2013;310(20):2191–4.
- 57. Stanik J, Kratzsch J, Landgraf K, Vogel M, Thiery J, Kiess W, u. a. The Bone Markers Sclerostin, Osteoprotegerin, and Bone-Specific Alkaline Phosphatase Are Related to Insulin Resistance in Children and Adolescents, Independent of Their Association with Growth and Obesity. Horm Res Paediatr. 2019;91(1):1–8.
- 58. Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, Naylor BA, Treacher DF, Turner RC. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. Diabetologia. Juli 1985;28(7):412–9.

Appendix

Supplementary Table 1. List of potentially hepatotoxic drugs. Individuals with intake of ≥ 1 of these drugs were excluded from the study population.

Abacavir Sulfate	Flutamide	Phenazopyridine Hydrochloride
Acetaminophen	Fluvastatin Sodium	Phenytoin Sodium
Allopurinol	Glimepiride	Pilocarpine Hydrochloride
Amiodarone Hydrochloride	Glipizide	Pravastatin Sodium
Amoxicillin	Glyburide	Probenecid
Amoxicillin Trihydrate; Clavulanate	Indinavir Sulfate	Progesterone
Potassium	Isoniazid	Propylthiouracil
Atorvastatin Calcium	Itraconazole	Pyrazinamide
Azathioprine	Ketoconazole	Quinine Sulfate
Bicalutamide	Labetalol Hydrochloride	Repaglinide
Bromocriptine Mesylate	Lamivudine	Rifabutin
Carbamazepine	Leflunomide	Ritonavir
Carbidopa; Levodopa	Leucovorin Calcium	Rivastigmine Tartrate
Cerivastatin Sodium	Lovastatin	Saquinavir
Chlorpropamide	Medroxyprogesterone Acetate	Simvastatin
Chlorzoxazone	Megestrol Acetate	Stavudine
Cholesterol Lowering Drug – Unspec.	Nomegestrol and Estradiol	Sulfamethoxazole
Clotrimazole	Mesalamine	Sulfasalazine
Colchicine	Mestranol; Norethindrone	Tamoxifen Citrate
Desogestrel; Ethinyl Estradiol	Methimazole	Terbinafine Hydrochloride
Diclofenac	Methotrexate Sodium	Testosterone
Didanosine	Methyldopa	Tetracycline Hydrochloride
Divalproex Sodium	Minocycline Hydrochloride	Tizanidine Hydrochloride
Efavirenz	Montelukast Sodium	Tolazamide
Erythromycin	Nabumetone	Tretinoin
Estrogen	Niacin	Trimethoprim
Estrogen and Progesteron	Nitrofurantoin	Troglitazone
Ethambutol Hydrochloride	Norethindrone	Valproic Acid
Fenofibrate	Olanzapine	Zafirlukast
Fluconazole	Pemoline	Zidovudine
Fluorouracil	Permethrin	

Supplementary Table 2. Reference values of the study reference population (N=982) for Liver Stiffness Measurement (LSM) for boys (A) and girls (B) and Controlled Attenuation Parameter (CAP) for boys (C) and girls (D) including mu, coefficient of variation (sigma) and skewness (nu), tabulated in half-year steps.

		3 rd	10 th	50 th	90 th	97 th			
sex	age	percentile	percentile	percentile	percentile	percentile	mu	sigma	nu
male	10	120.28	141.10	188.49	239.37	264.26	188.4861	0.2037	0.7283
male	10.5	122.45	144.69	195.44	250.07	276.83	195.4381	0.2107	0.7283
male	11	122.98	146.39	199.95	257.76	286.10	199.9537	0.2176	0.7283
male	11.5	122.11	146.43	202.21	262.56	292.18	202.2145	0.2244	0.7283
male	12	120.36	145.37	202.87	265.22	295.87	202.8683	0.2309	0.7283
male	12.5	118.18	143.72	202.56	266.50	297.97	202.5624	0.237	0.7283
male	13	116.04	142.00	201.94	267.21	299.36	201.9444	0.2424	0.7283
male	13.5	114.27	140.59	201.50	267.93	300.68	201.5018	0.2471	0.7283
male	14	112.87	139.50	201.18	268.55	301.78	201.1845	0.2508	0.7283
male	14.5	111.82	138.63	200.83	268.81	302.37	200.8296	0.2535	0.7283
male	15	111.06	137.92	200.27	268.46	302.13	200.2739	0.2549	0.7283
male	15.5	110.54	137.28	199.35	267.24	300.76	199.3544	0.2549	0.7283
male	16	110.26	136.69	198.02	265.04	298.13	198.0154	0.2534	0.7283
male	16.5	110.48	136.47	196.68	262.42	294.86	196.6814	0.2504	0.7283
male	17	111.53	137.00	195.91	260.12	291.78	195.9117	0.2457	0.7283
male	17.5	113.74	138.70	196.27	258.87	289.70	196.2654	0.2394	0.7283
male	18	117.50	141.99	198.30	259.37	289.40	198.3018	0.2314	0.7283

(A)

LSM reference values in kPa for boys, age in years.

α	D	١
U	D)

		3 rd	10 th	50 th	90 th	97 th			
sex	age	percentile	percentile	percentile	percentile	percentile	mu	sigma	nu
female	10	134.54	152.34	192.77	236.18	257.44	192.7662	0.1698	0.6733
female	10.5	126.36	145.45	189.10	236.33	259.57	189.0982	0.1877	0.6733
female	11	120.70	141.06	187.94	239.01	264.23	187.9407	0.2036	0.6733
female	11.5	116.94	138.51	188.45	243.17	270.27	188.4518	0.217	0.6733
female	12	114.68	137.34	190.05	248.06	276.87	190.0519	0.2277	0.6733
female	12.5	113.56	137.13	192.16	252.93	283.15	192.1616	0.2355	0.6733
female	13	113.21	137.46	194.20	256.99	288.26	194.2015	0.2406	0.6733
female	13.5	113.31	137.96	195.69	259.64	291.51	195.6892	0.2431	0.6733
female	14	113.78	138.56	196.62	260.94	292.99	196.6177	0.2433	0.6733
female	14.5	114.59	139.29	197.13	261.15	293.05	197.1252	0.2416	0.6733
female	15	115.69	140.15	197.35	260.59	292.07	197.3501	0.2385	0.6733

female	15.5	117.03	141.15	197.43	259.55	290.44	197.4305	0.2344	0.6733
female	16	118.54	142.25	197.48	258.30	288.52	197.4754	0.2297	0.6733
female	16.5	120.09	143.37	197.46	256.92	286.43	197.4635	0.2247	0.6733
female	17	121.52	144.37	197.34	255.44	284.25	197.3378	0.2199	0.6733
female	17.5	122.69	145.12	197.04	253.89	282.04	197.0413	0.2157	0.6733
female	18	123.45	145.52	196.52	252.27	279.86	196.5169	0.2122	0.6733

LSM reference values in kPa for girls, age in years.

(C)

		3 rd	10 th	50 th	90 th	97 th			
sex	age	percentile	percentile	percentile	percentile	percentile	mu	sigma	nu
male	10	2.88	3.15	3.85	4.77	5.30	3.8512	0.1617	-0.3079
male	10.5	2.94	3.25	4.07	5.18	5.84	4.066	0.1822	-0.3079
male	11	2.95	3.29	4.22	5.52	6.30	4.217	0.2011	-0.3079
male	11.5	2.93	3.30	4.31	5.78	6.69	4.3147	0.2179	-0.3079
male	12	2.91	3.30	4.38	5.99	7.00	4.3821	0.232	-0.3079
male	12.5	2.90	3.30	4.44	6.17	7.27	4.4424	0.2432	-0.3079
male	13	2.91	3.32	4.52	6.35	7.53	4.5185	0.2516	-0.3079
male	13.5	2.95	3.38	4.63	6.55	7.81	4.6256	0.2571	-0.3079
male	14	3.01	3.46	4.75	6.75	8.07	4.7522	0.2599	-0.3079
male	14.5	3.09	3.55	4.88	6.94	8.30	4.8812	0.2606	-0.3079
male	15	3.17	3.64	5.00	7.09	8.48	4.9956	0.2594	-0.3079
male	15.5	3.24	3.71	5.08	7.19	8.57	5.0783	0.2568	-0.3079
male	16	3.28	3.76	5.12	7.20	8.57	5.1173	0.2534	-0.3079
male	16.5	3.31	3.78	5.12	7.17	8.50	5.1231	0.2495	-0.3079
male	17	3.32	3.79	5.11	7.12	8.41	5.1129	0.2456	-0.3079
male	17.5	3.33	3.79	5.10	7.07	8.33	5.1036	0.2421	-0.3079
male	18	3.35	3.81	5.11	7.05	8.30	5.112	0.2394	-0.3079

CAP reference values in dB/m for boys, age in years.

(D)

		3 rd	10 th	50 th	90 th	97 th			
sex	age	percentile	percentile	percentile	percentile	percentile	mu	sigma	nu
female	10	2.53	2.88	3.86	5.30	6.21	3.8611	0.2375	-0.2687
female	10.5	2.68	3.04	4.04	5.51	6.43	4.0413	0.232	-0.2687
female	11	2.76	3.13	4.14	5.61	6.52	4.139	0.2273	-0.2687
female	11.5	2.79	3.16	4.16	5.60	6.50	4.1585	0.2235	-0.2687
female	12	2.79	3.15	4.13	5.547	6.42	4.135	0.2204	-0.2687
female	12.5	2.78	3.13	4.10	5.49	6.34	4.1036	0.218	-0.2687
female	13	2.79	3.14	4.10	5.47	6.31	4.0994	0.2164	-0.2687

female	13.5	2.83	3.18	4.15	5.53	6.37	4.1499	0.2153	-0.2687
female	14	2.89	3.25	4.24	5.65	6.51	4.2437	0.215	-0.2687
female	14.5	2.97	3.34	4.36	5.80	6.69	4.358	0.2152	-0.2687
female	15	3.04	3.42	4.47	5.96	6.87	4.4696	0.2161	-0.2687
female	15.5	3.09	3.48	4.56	6.09	7.03	4.5556	0.2177	-0.2687
female	16	3.11	3.50	4.60	6.16	7.13	4.5977	0.2198	-0.2687
female	16.5	3.09	3.49	4.60	6.18	7.17	4.5986	0.2226	-0.2687
female	17	3.05	3.45	4.57	6.17	7.17	4.5665	0.226	-0.2687
female	17.5	2.99	3.40	4.51	6.13	7.14	4.5097	0.2301	-0.2687
female	18	2.92	3.32	4.44	6.07	7.10	4.4368	0.235	-0.2687

CAP reference values in dB/m for girls, age in years.

Description of the own contribution

Description of the own contribution

Lina Brunnert's contribution:

- formal analysis
- data curation
- > writing: original draft preparation, review and editing
- visualization

CC

mc 2

Ika Damayanti Puasa

Dr. Antje Garten

Dr. Melanie Penke

Nico Grafe

Prof. Dr. Wieland Kiess

Dr. Mandy Vogel

Dr. Susanne Gaul

PD Dr. Thomas Karlas

Dr. Gunter Flemming

Erklärung über die eigenständige Abfassung der Arbeit

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbstständig und ohne unzulässige Hilfe oder Benutzung anderer als der angegebenen Hilfsmittel angefertigt habe. Ich versichere, dass Dritte von mir weder unmittelbar noch mittelbar eine Vergütung oder geldwerte Leistungen für Arbeiten erhalten haben, die im Zusammenhang mit dem Inhalt der vorgelegten Dissertation stehen, und dass die vorgelegte Arbeit weder im Inland noch im Ausland in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form einer anderen Prüfungsbehörde zum Zweck einer Promotion oder eines anderen Prüfungsverfahrens vorgelegt wurde. Alles aus anderen Quellen und von anderen Personen übernommene Material, das in der Arbeit verwendet wurde oder auf das direkt Bezug genommen wird, wurde als solches kenntlich gemacht. Insbesondere wurden alle Personen genannt, die direkt an der Entstehung der vorliegenden Arbeit beteiligt waren. Die aktuellen gesetzlichen Vorgaben in Bezug auf die Zulassung der klinischen Studien, die Bestimmungen des Tierschutzgesetzes, die Bestimmungen des Gentechnikgesetzes und die allgemeinen Datenschutzbestimmungen wurden eingehalten. Ich versichere, dass ich die Regelungen der Satzung der Universität Leipzig zur Sicherung guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis kenne und eingehalten habe.

14.11.22

Unterschrift

Scientific Publication

September 2022:

Brunnert L, Puasa ID, Garten A, Penke M, Gaul S, Grafe N, Karlas T, Kiess W, Flemming G and Vogel M (2022) Pediatric percentiles for transient elastography measurements - effects of age, sex, weight status and pubertal stage. Front. Endocrinol. 13:1030809. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1030809

Acknowledgements

First of all, I want to thank all the families who participated in the LIFE Child study as well as the whole LIFE Child team for their excellent and important work.

Moreover, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Wieland Kiess for giving me the great opportunity to do my doctorate in his brilliant research team as well as for believing in me and this work.

Beyond, I am deeply indebted to my supervisors Dr. Antje Garten and Dr. Mandy Vogel. One could not ask for better support. All my questions were always answered patiently, most helpfully and promptly. My most profound thanks, dear Antje and Mandy!

Furthermore, I would like to cordially thank my attending Dr. Gunter Flemming for all his support and positivity. Likewise, I thank all the other co-authors most sincerely for their contributions and support.

Also, I would like to express my gratitude to my wonderful family and in-laws for all their support and for always giving me the feeling that I could accomplish anything. I thank my fabulous friends for always being there for me and, in this context, I thank Natalie for giving me the best advice and Sarah for her continuous support.

My infinite thanks go to my partner for being my biggest support, my most patient and helpful `reviewer'/critic and for always being my biggest fan and believing in me, no matter what. Having you by my side is the best backing I could imagine.

And, last but not least, I want to thank my beloved children: I thank my son for being so patient with me and also for being the best reminder and impetus to work efficiently. And I thank my second child who I am still carrying for giving me the best deadline for this work: the oncoming due date.